
 

Extraordinary Meeting of 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

Agenda 

Wednesday, 20 December 2023 6.30 p.m. 
Council Chamber - Town Hall, Whitechapel 

Members: 

Chair: Councillor Musthak Ahmed 

Vice Chair: Councillor Bodrul Choudhury 

 
Councillor Ahmodur Khan, Councillor Abdul Malik, Councillor Abdul Mannan, Councillor 
Maisha Begum, Councillor Marc Francis, Councillor Asma Islam and Councillor Sabina 
Khan 

Co-opted Members:  
Jahid Ahmed and Halima Islam 

Deputies: Councillor Shafi Ahmed, Councillor Saif Uddin Khaled, Councillor Amin 

Rahman, Councillor James King, Councillor Sabina Akhtar and Councillor Mohammad 
Chowdhury 

[The quorum for this body is 3 voting Members] 

Contact for further enquiries:  

Thomas French, Democratic Services, 

Thomas.French@towerhamlets.gov.uk 

020 7364 3048  

Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London, E1 1BJ  

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee 



 

 

 
Public Information  
 
Viewing or Participating in Committee Meetings 
 
The meeting will be broadcast live on the Council’s website. A link to the website is 
detailed below. The press and public are encouraged to watch this meeting on line.  
 

 
Meeting Webcast 
The meeting is being webcast for viewing through the Council’s webcast system. 
http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

Electronic agendas reports and minutes. 

Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be found on our 
website from day of publication.   

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for the relevant 
committee and meeting date.  

Agendas are available on the Modern.Gov, Windows, iPad and Android apps 

Scan this QR code to view the electronic agenda  

 

http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


 

 

 

A Guide to Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

The Local Government Act 2000 established the overview and scrutiny function for 
every council, with the key roles of:  
  

 Scrutinising decisions before or after they are made or implemented 

 Proposing new policies and commenting on draft policies, and 

 Ensuring customer satisfaction and value for money. 
  
The aim is to make the decision-making process more transparent, accountable and 
inclusive, and improve services for people by being responsive to their needs. Overview 
& Scrutiny membership is required to reflect the proportional political makeup of the 
council and, as well as council services, there are statutory powers to examine the 
impact of work undertaken by partnerships and outside bodies, including the Crime and 
Disorder Reduction Partnership and local health bodies. 
  
In Tower Hamlets, the function is exercised by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
(OSC). The OSC considers issues from across the council and partnership remit. The 
Committee has 3 Sub-Committees: 

 Children & Education Scrutiny Sub Committee 

 Health & Adults Scrutiny Sub Committee 

 Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Sub Committee 
 
The committee’s quorum is three voting members. 
 
Public Engagement 
 
OSC usually meets once per month (a few days before Cabinet, to allow scrutiny of 
decisions scheduled to be made there). These meetings are open to the public 
to attend, and a timetable for meeting dates and deadlines can be found on the 
Council’s website. More detail of how residents can engage with Overview and Scrutiny 
are available here 
Overview and scrutiny (towerhamlets.gov.uk) 
 
  

http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgAgendaManagementTimetable.aspx?RP=327
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/council_and_democracy/Overview-and-scrutiny.aspx


 

 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

 
Wednesday, 20 December 2023 

 
6.30 p.m. 

 

SECTION ONE 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST AND 
OTHER INTERESTS (PAGES 5 - 6) 

 

Members are reminded to consider the categories of interest in the Code of Conduct for 
Members to determine whether they have an interest in any agenda item and any 
action they should take. For further details, please see the attached note from the 
Monitoring Officer.  
 
Members are reminded to declare the nature of the interest and the agenda item it 
relates to. Please note that ultimately it’s the Members’ responsibility to declare any 
interests form and to update their register of interest form as required by the Code.  
 
If in doubt as to the nature of your interest, you are advised to seek advice prior to the 
meeting by contacting the Monitoring Officer or Democratic Services  
 

3. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS 'CALLED IN'  

To consider the following called-in items from the Mayor’s Cabinet held on 29 
November 2023. 
 

3 .1 Major Events Policy for Events in Victoria Park (Pages 7 - 20) 
 

Next Meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Monday, 8 January 2024 at 6.30 p.m. to be held in Council Chamber - Town Hall, 
Whitechapel 



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE 

MONITORING OFFICER 

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for 

Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution  

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 

You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in 

Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests; 

(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as 

husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to 

be considered.  Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence. 

Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the 

decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public 

gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address 

the Committee.  

DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a 

request to the Monitoring Officer for a DPI dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive 

interest.  

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered – 

(Non - DPIs) 

You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts 

or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to 

bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose 

or aimed at influencing public opinion. 

Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate 
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:  
 

 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to 
impair your judgement of the public interest.  If so, you must withdraw and take no part 
in the consideration or discussion of the matter. 

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest. 
 

Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the 
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in 
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In such 
matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding Non DPI 
- interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph. 
 

Guidance on Predetermination and Bias  
 

Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to 
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes 
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of 
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.  
 

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict 
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting  
 

In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the 
matter.   
 

Further Advice contact: Janet Fasan, Interim Corporate Director, Governance and Monitoring 
Officer, Tel: 0207 364 4800. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule) 

Subject  Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member, 
or towards the election expenses of the Member. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or 
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 

Page 6



 

Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

20 December 2022 

 
Report of Janet Fasan Divisional Director Legal and 
Monitoring Officer 
 

Classification: 
Unrestricted 

Call-In: Major Events Policy for Events in Victoria Park   

 

Reasons for urgency:  

It was not possible to provide the statutory five working days’ notice for this meeting 

as the call-in request for this decision was received on Friday 8 December and the 

Council’s Scrutiny Procedure Rules require the Monitoring Officer to review call-in 

requests, but she was unable to do so until late this week. Considering this call in at 

the next scheduled OSC in January 2024 would present significant risks to the 

Council’s ambition to proceed with the major events organiser to deliver additional 

events in June 2024 due to the need for the organiser to make necessary event 

delivery arrangements including booking artists and obtaining necessary permissions 

etc. 

 

Originating Officer(s) Thomas French, Democratic Services Officer 
(Committee) 
 

Wards affected All 
 

 

CONSIDERATION OF THE CALL IN 

A call in request has been received on the decision of Cabinet, 29 November 2023,  

In accordance with the Council’s call in procedure rules, the matter is referred to the 

OSC for its consideration and to decide whether to refer the matter back to Cabinet 

for further consideration.   

The following procedure is to be followed by the Committee for consideration of the 

Call In: 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3.1



i. Chair to invite a call-in member to present call-in. 

ii. Chair to invite members of the Committee to ask question. 

iii. Chair to Invite Cabinet Member to respond to the call-in. 

iv. Chair to invite members of the Committee to ask questions. 

v. Followed by a general debate. 

 

It is open to the OSC to either resolve to take no action (which would have the effect 

of endorsing the original Cabinet decisions), or to refer the matter back to the 

Cabinet for further consideration setting out the nature of its concerns and possibly 

recommending an alternative course of action. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) considers: 

 

1. The contents of the attached report, review the Cabinet’s decision 

(provisional, subject to call in) arising; and  

 

2. Decide whether to accept the decision or to refer the matter back to the 

Cabinet with proposals and reasons. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

On 29 November 2023. Cabinet considered a report on Major Events Policy for 

Events in Victoria Park. As a result of discussions on the report it was RESOLVED:  

1. Amend the Major Events Policy for Victoria Park to allow for up to 12 Major 

Event Days per calendar year as set out in paragraph 3.13 of the report. 

 

2.  Amend the Major Events Policy for Victoria Park to increase the capacity 

threshold for a major event from 5,000 persons at any one time to 20,000 at 

any one time, and amend the thresholds for small,  medium and large events 

accordingly as set out in paragraph 3.16 of the report. 

 

3. Amend the Major Events Policy for Victoria Park to change the categorisation 

of events considered to be major events, thereby allowing a broader range of 

events to take place in addition to the major events programme.  

 

Page 8



4. To note the Equalities specific considerations as set out in Paragraph 4 of the 

report. 

The decision(s) above have been ‘Called-In’ by Councillors Asma Begum, Sabina 

Akhtar, James King, Mohammed Chowdhury and Mufeedah Bustin. This is in 

accordance with the provisions of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules of the 

Council’s Constitution. 

 

In accordance with the OSC Protocols and Guidance adopted by the Committee at 

its meeting on 4th June 2013, any Member(s) who present(s) the “Call In” is (are) not 

eligible to participate in the general debate. 

 

REASONS FOR THE CALL IN 

The call in requisition from the Councillors noted above has provided reason(s) for 

the call-in. The reason(s) are replicated below: 

The aforementioned Councillors, call in the above decision taken by Cabinet at its 

meeting on the 29/11/23, they do so on the following grounds: 

1. It is in contravention to Part A, Article 3, Section 1, Subsections b, c, e, of the 

Borough of Tower Hamlets Constitution: ‘Principles of Decision-Making’: 

B: This decision does not appear to have been taken with ‘due consultation’  

The report doesn’t indicate that it has consulted with various stakeholders, such as 

event organisers, residents, businesses, and community groups, does not provide 

any details of how any consultation was conducted, who was involved, what 

feedback was received, and how it was incorporated into the report's findings and 

recommendations.  

The report also does not mention any input from the park's management, 

maintenance, or conservation staff, who are likely to have relevant expertise and 

experience on the park's condition and needs. 

The officer input to the decision was the evaluation of how LBTH current events 

policy benchmarks against that of other London Boroughs.  

C: The decision does not show respect for human rights in its recommendations.  

The report acknowledges that major events in Victoria Park may have an impact on 

the rights of residents, such as the right to respect for private and family life, the right 

to peaceful enjoyment of possessions, and the right to freedom of expression and 

assembly. However, the report does not explain how these rights will be protected or 

balanced against the rights of event organisers and attendees. The report also does 

not consider the rights of other park users, such as children, elderly, disabled, or 

minority groups, who may be affected by the increased frequency and duration of 

events. 

Page 9



E: clarity of aims and desired outcomes 

The report also does not specify any measurable indicators or targets to evaluate the 

success or failure of the events, such as attendance, satisfaction, complaints, 

income, expenditure, or environmental impact.  

There are no estimates or examples provided for how much income is generated for 

other borough’s with liberalised events policies. 

The decision is not evaluated against how it would impact the council’s other 

objectives in it’s strategic plan. E.g., how would closing sections of the park more 

often affect objectives in relation to leisure, the environment, consultation, and 

equalities. 

H: explaining what options were considered and giving the reasons for the decision. 

No other options were presented other than not exacting the decision in the form 

presented.  

e.g. quotas for medium sized events, co-creation of yearly events calendar with park 

users/community groups/residents.  

 

ALTERNATIVE COURSE OF ACTION PROPOSED 

The call in requisition from the Councillors noted above has provided a proposed 

alternative course of action. The proposed alternative course of action is replicated 

below: 

 Reverse the implementation of the decision.  

 Consult with Friends of Victoria Park and residents.  

 Introduce quotas for non-music events.  

 Ensure a hand break mechanism for new events in the event of environmental 

degradation of the park and surrounding area (e.g. tough mudder event at 

Finsbury Park) 

 Produce accurate modelling for revenue generation.  

 Guaranteed incentives for residents surrounding the park and recourse for 

redress where events disrupt/impact their rights. 

 

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 Review of the Major Events Policy, Victoria Park 
 
Appendices 

 None 
 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) List of “Background 
Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

Page 10



 None. 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision 

 

 
 

29 November 2023 

 
Report of: Raj Mistry, Corporate Director, Communities  

Classification: 
Unrestricted  

Major Events Policy for Events in Victoria Park   

 

Lead Member Councillor Iqbal Hossain, Cabinet member for Culture & 
Recreation  

Originating 
Officer(s) 

Catherine Boyd, Head of Arts, Parks and Events 

Wards affected All wards  

Key Decision? Yes  

Reason for Key 
Decision 

Significant impact on two or more wards 
 

Forward Plan 
Notice Published 

27/06/2023 

Exempt 
information 
 

N/A 
  

Strategic Plan 
Priority / 
Outcome 

4. Boosting culture, business, jobs, and leisure 

 

Executive Summary 

 
The Arts, Parks and Events team manages a range of community, commercial and 
corporate events across the Council’s parks and open spaces. 
 
This report sets out the current Major Events Policy for Victoria Park. Benchmarking 
against other local authorities and venues in London that hold major outdoor events 
has been undertaken and a review of the Major Events Policy (for events in Victoria 
Park) is recommended to enable the Council to broaden the range of well managed 
events that can be considered for Victoria Park.  
 
It is proposed that the number of major event days in Victoria Park increases from 
ten to twelve per calendar year; that the capacity threshold of major events is altered 
in line with other local authorities and comparable venues; and that the 
categorisation of major events is amended to allow a wider variety of events to take 
place in addition to the major commercial events programme. 
 
The proposed amendments to the Major Events Policy would enable the Council to 
programme more events in Victoria Park, increase opportunities for residents to 

Page 13



access high quality events and cultural programmes, benefit the local economy and 
support the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) through revenue 
generation.  

 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Mayor in Cabinet is recommended to:  
 

1. Amend the Major Events Policy for Victoria Park to allow for up to 12 
Major Event Days per calendar year as set out in paragraph 3.13 of this 
report. 
  

2. Amend the Major Events Policy for Victoria Park to increase the capacity 
threshold for a major event from 5,000 persons at any one time to 
20,000 at any one time, and amend the thresholds for small, medium 
and large events accordingly as set out in paragraph 3.16 of this report.  

 
3. Amend the Major Events Policy for Victoria Park to change the 

categorisation of events considered to be major events, thereby allowing 
a broader range of events to take place in addition to the major events 
programme. 

 
4. To note the Equalities specific considerations as set out in Paragraph 4. 

 
1 REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 Under the current policy for major events in Victoria Park, approved by 

Cabinet on 6 January 2021, up to ten major commercial event days are 
permitted per calendar year in Victoria Park; the policy allows for six major 
event days with a capacity of up to 49,999, and four major event days with 
a capacity of up to 39,999 per annum. 
 

1.2 A major event is currently defined as an event with an attendance of more 
than 5,000 at any one time. Major events are generally held in Victoria 
Park, which is the largest park in the borough. 
 

1.3 A review of the Major Events Policy for Victoria Park is recommended in 
terms of the number of major event days, thresholds for major event days 
and categorisation of major event days. This will enable the Council to 
programme a higher number and broader range of events in Victoria Park 
that support income generation, the local economy and provide cultural 
and entertainment opportunities for residents and visitors.  
 

1.4 With a growing population, there is an increased need for well-maintained 
parks and open spaces. As a result of ongoing reduction to government 
funding, the Council, like other local authorities, has continued to face 
budget pressures that have been further impacted by the rising cost of 
services and cost-of-living crisis. As a result, local authorities have to 

Page 14



identify alternative income streams to continue to be able to fund non-
statutory services including parks and open spaces.  
 

1.5 Tower Hamlets Council, like other London local authorities including 
Haringey, Lambeth and Southwark, has utilised parks and open spaces to 
generate income from events including large scale commercial events 
since 2005. The live events economy is an important source of income for 
boroughs to be able to maintain parks and contributes to the wider local 
economy as well as providing opportunities for local engagement.  
 

1.6 As part of the budget setting process for 2023/34, Full Council approved an 
income target of £1,588,000 from commercial event activity in parks and 
open spaces. This is likely to increase in future years.   

 
2 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
2.1 Not alter the existing policy, therefore restricting the number and range of 

events that can be considered for Victoria Park. 
 
3 DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 In January 2021, Cabinet approved an amendment to the Major Events Policy 

for events in Victoria Park to allow for up to ten commercial events, with four 
event days at a capacity of up to 39,999 and six event days at a capacity of 
up to 49,999 per calendar year in Victoria Park. 
 

3.2 All of the major event days are currently allocated through the Major Events 
Concession, which allows for ten event days per calendar year. This excludes 
Council organised events and mass participation runs. 

 
3.3 A Major Event is currently defined as an event that has or is expected to have 

more than 5,000 attendees (capacity) at any one time. Any reference to a 
capacity in this report is to actual or expected capacity.   
 

3.4 Under the current Major Events Policy for events in Victoria Park, the Council 
is unable to consider third-party community, cultural or commercial events that 
have a capacity of more than 5,000 attendees at any one time in Victoria Park 
beyond ten event days per calendar year.   

 
3.5 A benchmarking review has been undertaken by the Arts, Parks and Events 

team of other London outdoor venues, including local authorities, to review 
the number of major event days, capacity thresholds and event 
categorisations.  
 

3.6 Details of the benchmarking review are provided in Table 1 below, which 
gives an overview of the number of major event days permitted by other local 
authorities and comparable venues. 
 

  

Page 15



3.7 Table 1: Major Event Days permitted at other comparable London venues 
 

Venue  Number of Major Events  

Crystal Palace Park (Trust)  Six event days per annum   

Finsbury Park (LB Haringey)  Six event days for 2023 

Hyde Park (Trust)  Nine event days per annum  

Brockwell Park and Clapham 
Common (LB Lambeth)  

Six major event days per annum  

Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park 
(London Legacy Development 
Corporation)  

Six event days per annum  

Tottenham Hotspur Stadium  Six event days per annum 

Victoria Park (LB Tower Hamlets) Ten event days per annum 

Wembley Stadium  Nine event days per annum 

 
3.8 Further details of the benchmarking review are provided in Table 2 below, 

which compares Tower Hamlets’ current event capacity thresholds against 
other London outdoor venues that hold major events.  
 

3.9 Table 2: Comparison of Event Capacity Thresholds  
 
Park / venue  Event Category  Capacity Threshold 

Victoria Park, Tower 
Hamlets Council (current) 

Major  5,000 – 50,000 

Large 2,000 – 5,000 

Medium 500 – 2,000 

Small Up to 500 

   

Brockwell Park, Lambeth 
Council 

Major 20,000 – 50,000 

Large 5,000 – 20,000 

Medium 500 – 5,000  

Small Up to 500 

   

Crystal Palace Park 
(trust), Bromley Council  

Major 20,000 – 50,000 

Large 5,000 – 20,000 

Medium 1,500 – 5,000 

Small  500 – 1,500 

Minor Up to 500 

   

Finsbury Park, Haringey 
Council 

Major 10,000 – 50,000 

Large 2,000 – 10,000 

Medium 500 – 2,000 

Small Up to 500 

   

Hyde Park, (trust), 
Westminster Council  

Major  19,999 – 64,999 

   

Queen Elizabeth Olympic 
Park London Legacy 
Development Corporation  

Major 19,999+ 

Large 5,000+ 

Medium Up to 4,999 

 

Page 16



3.10 The Tower Hamlets Council capacity threshold for a major event in Victoria 
Park is currently significantly lower than other comparable venues. Events 
with an attendance of more than 5,000 are classified as large events rather 
than major events by other comparable local authorities and venues. 
 

3.11 Following the review of other comparable London venues, officers 
recommend that Cabinet approves the alteration of the capacity threshold of a 
major event from being an event with a capacity of 5,000 or more to being an 
event with a capacity of 20,000 or more at any one time for events in Victoria 
Park.  
 

3.12 It should be noted that events with an audience size of 20,000 require road 
closures to safely disperse audiences. Road closures are considered high 
impact and create significant disruption to local residents as well as diversions 
for bus services and the wider traffic network. Events with audiences 
exceeding 20,000 at any one time are also more likely to require high impact 
noise levels which can cause more significant disruption to local residents.   

 
3.13 Should the proposed capacity thresholds be approved, the maximum number 

of major events in Victoria Park is recommended to increase to up to twelve 
per annum (eight event days with a capacity of up to 49,999 at any one time 
and four event days with a capacity of up to 39,999 at any one time). A 
maximum of twelve major event days is recommended due to a number of 
commercial and statutory considerations including: 
 

3.13.1. Event organisers would need to be able to clearly demonstrate how they 
would manage noise and adhere to the general principles of the Noise 
Council Code of Practice 1995.  
 

3.13.2. There is a limit to the number of ticketed music events that one venue can 
commercially sustain and therefore a more significant increase to the 
number of major event days under the policy would not necessarily equate 
to more income to the Council.   

 
3.13.3. Increasing the available number of major event days could be detrimental 

to future tenders/licences, as bidders/licensees are unlikely to take the 
commercial risk of buying more dates than they can sell tickets for. If 
bidders/licensees cannot gain exclusivity by buying out all of the available 
major event days, it would make any future tender/licences less 
commercially attractive.   

 
3.14 Regardless of whether an event is classified as major, large, medium or small, 

the Safety Advisory Terms of Reference would apply alongside statutory 
regulations (e.g., Licensing Act 2003). Therefore, event organisers would 
need to demonstrate that they have sufficient resources and adequate plans 
to safely deliver their events programme and minimise impact to the park and 
residents.  
 

3.15 Table 3 below compares the current capacity thresholds against the proposed 
new thresholds for Victoria Park.  

Page 17



 
3.16 Table 3: Proposed new capacity thresholds for Victoria Park  

 

Category  Current  Proposed  

Major  5,000 to 49,999 20,000 to 49,999 

Large 2,000 – 5,000   5,000 to 19,999 

Medium 500 – 2,000 500 to 4,999 

Small Up to 499 Up to 499 

 
 

3.17 If the new capacity thresholds are adopted, events classified as major or large 
would remain subject to an enhanced planning process in line with the 
Council’s Safety Advisory Group terms of reference. Note that these terms of 
reference would need to be updated and approved by the Safety Advisory 
Group members.  
 

3.18 Any event with an audience of 5,000 people or more would still be required to 
attend multi-agency planning meetings (a sub-group of the Safety Advisory 
Group). This includes representation by the emergency services (including the 
Metropolitan Police Service) and the Council’s Environmental Health, 
Environmental Protection, Community Safety and Licensing teams. Through 
this process the event organiser will be required to demonstrate how they will 
uphold the licensing objectives; public safety, the prevention of crime and 
disorder, the prevention of public nuisance and the protection of children from 
harm.  
 

3.19 In addition, an enhanced planning process, including attendance at a multi-
agency planning meeting would continue to apply, as per the current Safety 
Advisory Group Terms of Reference to:  

 
3.19.1. Events with alcohol sales (if 500 people or more, i.e., requiring a Premises 

Licence) that are deemed likely to have a higher risk of anti-social 
behaviour or associated issues due to nature of the event (i.e., hours of 
operation, programme, audience profile, location etc); and 
 

3.19.2. If the proposed event, regardless of capacity, is likely to be high impact on 
local residents, businesses (i.e., traffic and parking restrictions, significant 
noise or other disruption). 

 
3.20 In addition to the increase in number of major event days, and the changes to 

the capacity thresholds, it’s also proposed that classification of major events is 
amended in order to allow for a higher number of major event days and a 
broader range of events to take place in Victoria Park. 
 

3.21 It is recommended that the Major Events Policy for Victoria Park is updated to 
exclude the following categories of events from the policy restrictions (i.e., 
outside of the twelve major event days): 
 

3.21.1 Council managed events (as per current policy); 
 

Page 18



3.21.2 Mass sporting events (as per current policy); 
 
3.21.3 Commercial and corporate events that are not music focussed (i.e., food, 

comedy and theatre festivals, trade exhibitions, galas etc) (New addition to 
the policy); and  

 
3.21.4 Free to access community event days as part of a commercial events 

programme using existing infrastructure (New addition to the policy). 
 
3.22 For all events, the latest event running times would be up to 11pm on Fridays 

and Saturdays and up to 10.30pm on other days, subject to licensing 
conditions.    

 
Corporate and commercial events in other parks 
 
3.23 Officers will be undertaking a review of the policy for corporate and 

commercial events in parks and will report back to Cabinet in 2024. 
 
4 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Events income contributes significantly to the maintenance and provision of 

parks and open spaces across the borough, and the delivery of free to access 
community cultural events. Parks, open spaces and events are open to all 
residents from all backgrounds and protected characteristics.  
 

4.2 Income generated from a well-managed events programme in Victoria Park 
enables the Council to continue investing in parks and open spaces and free 
community events at a time of reducing budgets, thereby benefitting all 
residents.  
 

4.3 Events have localised, time limited impacts. These are not considered to 
affect any particular protected characteristic disproportionately. Localised 
impacts are minimised through contractual requirements to continuously 
improve event management arrangements. 

 
5 OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration. Examples of other implications may be: 

 Best Value Implications  

 Consultations 

 Environmental (including air quality)  

 Risk Management 

 Crime Reduction 

 Safeguarding 

 Data Protection / Privacy Impact Assessment. 
 

Page 19



5.2 Best Value Implications: the Major Events Policy for events in Victoria Park 
will increase to twelve major event days (for events with capacities of more 
than 20,000 and up to 50,000 at any one time) per calendar year. These 
events are typically held between May and September. Under the current 
Major Events Policy, the Council is unable to consider other events (i.e., 
events with a capacity of more than 5,000 at any one time) across the year 
that would provide additional income, provide additional cultural and 
entertainment opportunities for residents and contribute to the local economy. 
If the proposed amendments to the Major Events Policy are approved, events 
that could be considered would include winter fairs, theatrical/multi-arts 
events, comedy festivals, food festivals, exhibitions/fairs, mass participation 
sporting events and corporate events. Furthermore, free-to-access community 
events delivered as part of a commercial events programme using existing 
infrastructure will be permitted in addition to the number of major event days.  

 
5.3 Consultations: event applications with an attendance of more than 499 at 

any one time which have regulated entertainment and or the provision of 
alcohol, require a Premises Licence. It is a statutory requirement for Premises 
Licence applicants to undertake a 28-day public consultation. Aside from 
organised running events, the majority of large events under the new policy 
would require a Premises Licence and would therefore be subject to public 
consultation. In addition, officers will consult the Corporate Director of 
Communities in respect of any events that may or will be high impact e.g., 
events that may require road closures, or operate over several days and 
remove large areas of the park from general recreational use for a prolonged 
period.  
 

5.4 Environmental (including air quality): events held in public open spaces, 
including those held in Victoria Park, are required to demonstrate through their 
event planning documentation (including risk assessments), how they will 
reduce impact to residents and the park. For large and major events, event 
organisers will be required to provide detailed site plans, demarcating ground 
protection measures, plus details of site services (including effective waste 
management and recycling). Organisers will also be required to provide a 
sustainability plan, detailing arrangements for reducing waste, promoting 
sustainable practices, and reducing air pollution. Events are required to 
promote the use of public transport and cycling; no customer vehicle parking 
(aside from Blue Badge) will be considered. With regards to noise pollution, 
event organisers will be required to provide detailed Noise Management Plans 
that will be subject to review by agencies including Environmental Protection 
to ensure that the Council is fulfilling its statutory duties and following best 
practice. It is acknowledged that events can have short term impacts on the 
park in which they take place. These impacts are minimised through 
contractual arrangements and licensing conditions. Event income also 
contributes significantly to the Council’s budget for maintaining and improving 
parks and open spaces. 

 
5.5 Risk Management: all events, regardless of audience capacity, are subject to 

the Council’s Park Hire Application process. As part of the application 
process, all applicants must be able to demonstrate that they have the 

Page 20



resources and experience to safely plan and deliver their event with minimum 
impact to the park and residents. This includes providing, relative to the size 
and risk of the event: Event Management Plans; Crowd Management Plan; 
Noise Management Plan; Risk Assessment (including fire); Safeguarding 
Policy; Sustainability Plan; and insurance. In relation to the proposed increase 
of the major event threshold from more than 5,000 to 20,000 at any one time, 
this will not adversely impact on risk management of large or major events. 
The same principles, as covered by the Safety Advisory Group’s Terms of 
Reference (see 3.17 and 3.18) will apply, ensuring that any event that is over 
5,000 at any one time (or high impact if under 5,000) will be required to go 
through an enhanced multi-agency planning process.  
 

5.6 Crime Reduction: as described in 5.5, all event organisers for large, major 
and / or high impact events will be required to provide a Crowd Management 
Plan, which will be subject to review by the multi-agency planning group, 
which includes representatives from the Metropolitan Police Service. Through 
this process, event organisers will need to adequately demonstrate how they 
will meet the Licensing objectives (Licensing Act 2003). Detailed plans must 
be provided to document on site (event footprint) and off site (park and key 
external walking routes) arrangements to and from Victoria Park. 
 

5.7 Safeguarding: through the licensing and multi-agency planning process, 
event organisers must provide detailed and robust arrangements and 
measures to protect children and vulnerable adults from harm. These plans 
are subject to review by the multi-agency planning group. As part of the 
Premises Licence application and multi-agency planning process the 
Council’s Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service team reviews 
safeguarding measures.  
 

5.8 Data Protection / Privacy Impact Assessment: event organisers do not 
manage sensitive data held by the Council. They are responsible for 
compliance with the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018) and the Privacy 
and Electronic Communications Regulations 2003 (SI 2003/2426) and this 
responsibility is covered via the Park Hire Contract.  

 
6 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 Additional income generation from maximum utilisation of LBTH assets can 

support the Council in long-term saving requirements, increasing the capacity 
of large events would facilitate that maximisation. 

 
7 COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 This report does not give rise to any particular legal implications in respect of 

planning, licensing, etc. Specific advice on licensing, planning and other 
issues will be given on a case-by-case basis to the relevant Committee or 
Sub-Committee, as required.  

 
7.2 Section 145 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives local authorities a power 

to do or arrange for the doing of anything necessary or expedient for the 

Page 21



provision of any entertainment. This power includes the power to set aside or 
enclose any part of a park or pleasure ground that they own or that is under 
their control. This includes the power to allow such a part of a park or pleasure 
ground to be used by some other person, on payment or such other terms as 
the authority thinks fit and allows that other person to make charges for 
admission.  
 

7.3 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires the authority, in the exercise of 
its functions, to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by the 2010 Act, 
to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not, and to foster good relations 
between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who 
do not. The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual 
orientation. The duty must be complied with at the time that the decision under 
consideration, in this case the recommendation to adopt the Policy, is taken. It 
is not a duty to achieve a particular result.  
 

7.4 This has been identified as a key decision i.e., an executive decision which is 
likely to be significant in terms of the effects on communities living or working 
in an area comprising of two or more wards. That requires, among other 
things, at least 28 days’ clear notice having been given of the intention to 
make that decision.  

 
____________________________________ 

 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 Major Events Policy, Cabinet - (Public Pack)Agenda Document for Cabinet, 
06/01/2021 17:30 (towerhamlets.gov.uk)  

 
Appendices 

 NONE  
 
Background Documents – Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Access 
to Information)(England) Regulations 2012 

 NONE  
 
Officer contact details for documents: 
Catherine Boyd, Head of Arts, Parks and Events – 
Catherine.boyd@towerhamlets.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 22

http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/g11904/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Jan-2021%2017.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/g11904/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Jan-2021%2017.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
mailto:Catherine.boyd@towerhamlets.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST AND OTHER INTERESTS
	3.1 Major Events Policy for Events in Victoria Park
	Review of the Major Events Policy Victoria Park


